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The Dune Acres |
Histarical Commission |
was established inlaze
1288 by Town Board
President Del Wilkes
with Margaret Doyle,
lames Mewman and
the late Gertrude
Canklin a5 membxrs.
In the intervenng
decade, we have

We wanl o thank
'_ all those wha dug
threugh old albums
| and boxes aof old
photos, or who went
through their files e
find letters and
documents for their

archives., Thanks are
due, Log, to these wha

Lhrough tha - g
anthusiastic suppart of residents accumulated an
impressive archive of maretials preserving Dune Acres
. history. We have also taped interviews with a number
f residents (though not as many as we would have
likedh and, beginning in B0, have issued a serics of
ten 'Oceasional Papers, setting forth aspects of town
history

As the 7icth Annlversary of Dune Acres
appraached, it was suggested that we consolidate the
Dceasional Fapers inta & baok, That turpsd oul not
to e feasible. So much information had besn acguired
sincewe started-and =0 much hagl been kearmad about
QUr past that it seemed hest to start afresh. Actually,
not quite afresh, since the Occasional Papers provided
& skeleton account from which we warked, Gnly the
account of the great fire of 1949 and the section on
the Bailly Muclear Site have been incorparatec] withaout
change. The ather chapters will seem partly familiar
and partly new. ~ ;

From the beginning we have worked as a team on
all aur projects. We met frequently at Gertrude Conklin's
over a glass of sherry 1o decide whom to interview
next or what subject b pursue for an Gecasional Paper,
We are sorry that Gertrude did not live 1o see the
praduct of her labors. Since her death, we have
conlinued in the same spirt. im Mewman has been
responsible for the writing of both the Occasicnal
Fapers and the history, Margaret Doyle has done mast
of the interviewing and has also been responsible for
collecting photographs. But bath bave worked together
aneach part of the project. =

allowed themselves o
krnowkadge by personal
recolbections. We thank in particular, Barbara Mampin
whose wisdom abeut our namiral secting is included
in an Appendix and Dan lenking who accumulated the
list of roamn officials, Our gratinide also tothose who
read and improved the rough draft: Barbara Smith,
Mary Alice Mewman and Bobert Hartmann  Mast

especlally, we want to thank the Dune Acres Civie '

Improvement Foundation for underwriling the
pullication of this histary, and for other generous
support of the work of the Historical Commissian.

The [ing illustrations were done by the late Helen
Brcawm in the 19605 and 19705, She was an architect
by training and lived in retirement on Beach Drive with
her sister Louise and their friend Clga Au:',?ams_ She
made these sketches for frisnds from tima to dme.

We begin our story alittle before the Town was
founded with 2 bit of prehistory, and we close with
the rencvation of the Clubhause in 19591991 This is
maore or less 75 vears and lesves the next historlans
af Dune Acres with the [990's as a running start,

Wi hope this volume expresses the collective
mermary of Dune Acres and the affection that its

residents feel for it. We dedicate it to all those wha
will live here in the future and, we truss, presersathe

spirit of this unique community.
! D Acres Historical Commission
Jarines MNewman
Margaret Dagle
June, 1998
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:lutroduction

The Town of Dune Acres was established ino 1993
What was here hefore thal date? Were there any
seftlers? How: iF at all, wes the land used? What made
passinle the establishment of this kind of community
Sim 1935
: We should consider these questions briefly before
moving on ta the narrative history of the town, First,
wi need to place Mgy, h;
Dune Acres in its |
larger setting. Until
carly in the 20th
century a great
swamp ran from west
of Gary almost Lo
Mlchigan City,
|'I'I'a:<|l]£ C;CCESS L
Lake Michigan
difficull. Cowles Bog B8
and the marshes an
each side af the
present  Mineral
Springs Road were :
part of that great swarmp. [n the Dune Acres area, early
white seitlers establishad their farms on the solid
ground soith of the watlands. *But they came into
what we call Cowles Bog to cur marsh hay and across
it to the dunes fior firewaad and Iumber. An 1876
Flatbook seems o show & road aoross the bog where
Mineral Springs Road new runs, and an early 20th
century map shows a number of wagorn ails running
through the Dune Acres area, For decades, acoess Lo
the lakeshore and dunes was available only to inland
meighbyoring farmers and, of course, tothe Indians and
trappers and fur traders who came by lake
“The popular view of the dunelands at that fime
was no doult expressed by the editor of the Chesterton -
Tribune in a news story of lune 3, 1890, “without one
it of exagaeration, litis] the most godiarsaken place
In the State of Indiana..in the midst of sandhills,
swamnps and sloughs and is headauarters for malaria,
* sandburs and bullfrogs.” i
Butin the early 20th cantury, & new appreciation
af nature was spreading, and the Indiana Dunes came
to be tressured. The Fralile Clul: of Chicago plaved
the l=sding role in opening the [unes for recreational

wse,  In 1908, a group of sixteen organizations
sponsared a series of Saturday afterncon walks. The
wilks were Jald aut, each 1o be ked by a guide familiar
with the reglon to be viziled, One of the early walks
was In the ndlana Bunes with 338 men and women
participating. Qut of this activity grew the Praire Clul,

Incorporated in K11, the Cluk set up its lirst avernight

camg in the Dunes -
im [912 and
| thereafter brought

hundreds of hikers
aned campers: 1o the
lakeshore sach wear.
Mamy enthusiasts
fram Gary and local
communities as well
as from Chicape
built temperary
dwellings along the

shore, a base far |
summer (and.
SoHTeLimes, winger)
cutings. William and Flora Richardson built such a
shelrer in what is now Bune Acres in BI0. The land

belenged to a Chicago lawyer named Henry Leman. -
He had built a cabin an his land as early as 188 and
during and |l..q't afrer Warld War [ had granted leases
to eight such campers on his land. Al up and down
the shore from Miller to Michigan City were hundreds
of such unheated cabins, making use of the miles of
shoreling which had been despized not Iom.g befare,
All of this had been made possinle by (;cnstrucl,iun

Ic.‘-f e Chicags, South Shore and Scuth Bend Railread,

which began operating in 08 with frequent staps In
the Dunes, including one at Mineral Springs Boad,
Campers hiked in across the swamp from the train and
went by way of the wapon trails to their cabins.

Thus the Dune Acres site was not completely
unkngwm In 1923, For decades, neighboring farmers
had ceme in for marsh hay and wood, and mare
recently. lovers of the out of doors had camped in
makeshift dwellingz along the share.” Mow this pleasant
and, in retrospect, kdyllic use was o be replaced by
permanent settlement.




- Chapter 1

Founding the Town

The Town of Dune fores was
founded by an election held on
September 15, 1923, with nine
voters participating. The guestion
was: *Should the Town of Dune
Aeres be Incerparated?’; the woie
was 90 in favor, The vote had
b 52t in motion by Cune Acres,
Incorporaled, a company which
kad bBeen legally established some
six months before on Aprl 23, B2
" The election was hekd in the office
of the Corporation, and the soiers
were its cfficers and directors |plus
one wifel, The Town was from the
beginning & planned community
and not the outsrowth of &
previous settlement. And there existed from the
beginning te close relationship betasen the Town of
Dune Acres and Dune Acres, Incorporated.

Behind the Corporation was its unusual and
impressive president, William A Wirt, Superintendent
of the Gary Public Schocls: Wirt had shown unusual
enterriss and creativity in Grganizing the Gary scheals,
intreducing innovations in currgulum and inscheduling
the schaal day which had mads the "Gary System’
farnous throseghout the country, He was also, {unusual
far a professional educator, desply involved in the

- business world as president of the National Bank of

Armerica (in Gary), and a persistently hopeful falthaugh
unsuccessiul] real estate developer. Together with
Calanel Arthur Meltan, wha planned the City of Gary
from its inception (n 1906, and William B. Itiner,
architect of the Gary Public Schools, he had formed
a company, Industrial Town Planning and Organizer,
in 1920 with offices in the financial district of Chicaga,
Projects had besn pursued in Mexico and in Casper,
Whoming, but they had not worked cut. By March of
1521, the firm had a bank balance of only 510088 and
was moving (0 less expensive quarters In Chicago.
Bartin :.he sumines of that year, these men had turned
their attention o possible propertios &n the southern
shore of Lake Michigan. The lakeshore had only

recently bacome more feasible for
permanent development with the
canstruction of a fedesal highway
connecting Gary and Michigan
Cityand then koining LLS. Highway.
20 (the Linceln Highway) a littdé
furthersouth.  The new road was
1.5, Highway 12, better known b
its name "the Cunes Highway', -
since all maker reutes had names
in those days—-the Lincaln
Highwiay, the Atlantic, ¥ellowstons,
and Pacific Highway, the Dixle
Highway, Construction of the
Thanes |-|Ighway_was annauneed
in 1919 and complesed in 1923,

willtam Wirl

giving wasy access to what were to become the
Duneland communities-0gden Dunes, Dune Adres
and Beverly Shares. | 7 -

Willlarn Wire had a big break in early 1922, The
State of Indiana had plans for an extensie stale park
in the dunes, which inguded not only the present park
nut also ran west including the ares that is now Dune
Acres, In 1932, the planners of the state park decided
to cut back, eliminating the western section,” As Wirt
himeelf wrore in a-letler to the Gary Post-Tribune
{March 10, 1923, "As soon as [ learned that the Park
Asseciaton had decided to'abandon the eight mile
park plan and work for & three mile park instead, |
imenediately secured control of the west twa and kalf
mikes of the ariginal eightmile race”

This tract. which was to become Dune Acres, had
been owned by a Chicago Attorney, Henry W Leman,
ciree 1594, He had had a simple shelter on the property
sinee his purchase and in recent years had granted
cipht leases to other campars. [n December of 1922
he granned William Wirt & lease with an aptian o buy
on 5814 acres. Wit transferred the lease to Dune
Acres, Ineorparated an Juby 2, 1924, and the Corporation
al onee began Lo purchase the leased land, Wirt's
intention was Lo create an upscale suburban
community, as he remarked Lo the Post-Tribune,




© | comparable to Winnetka and Lake Farest, his madels
for the new development. ; :
This ambition seemed reasonahle In the theiving
and sxpanding Calumet region of the 1950s. by the
" 193Ps, Morthwes, Indiana had been transformed. Mo
 longer was it largely a vast wetland. The city of Gary
had been established by .S, Steel in 1904 on
swampland that hadl been drained, and Srandard il
of Indiana (now Amocol had its refinery and research
laboratonies in East Chicago. also the home of Inland
Steel, Hammaonsd had been a prosperous ity since
the [9th century. The region was prospercus, and the
. dunes offered & beautiful selting Tor families who
wished to llve away from the industrial noise and

pollution of the cites, The Seuth Shore Railraad and -

the Dunes Highway made sooess easy not anly for the
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Calumes Regmn bast From Chicaps a5 well, Bune deres,

" Incorporated had & great apportunity with its

undisturbed halding of great natural beauty and a
large market of urban dwellers who wished to live in

such a beautiful nateral setting.  Luckily for later

generations, these carly planners made the most of
iheir challenze. Celonel Melton was an axperienced
and sephisticated planner, and hg appreciatad the

rratural features he had to work with. He established

the pattern of the east end of the present town [and
establlzhed a moded for the future west end). preserving
dunes and blowouts, connected 5 oneanather by
roads winding up the hillsides and thirough the woods.

It was in this setting that the Town of Dunes Actes :

came into heﬁlig on September 15, K23,
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Chap

Getting

ter 11 _

Develapment of the town was,
in the-hands of Dune Acres.
]n-;;arpora[ed.- In additicn L Wil
and Colonel Melton, other
Incorporators were Harry Hall a
Realtor, € R Kuss, Treasurer of
the Matiomal Bank of America’inf
windch William Wirt was Presicent],
and-C. V. Ridgely, an attorney
often refierred to as Judae Ridaely

All were from Gary, Iitner the
architect had dropped aut,
although he later built 8 housein
-Dune Acres. H. B Smder, 5r.,
whom many resident assume [
hane bieen a founder since be later
plaved such 2 Tnéiur role in the Corporation and the
teown, came into e picture only & few years later,
taking aver leadership in both the Corperation and

'i‘fﬂ
j.

the town dluring the Depression and until his death in

1961, He was owner and publisher of the Gary Post
Tribune
Al of these founding fathers were young business
an professional men who had prospered in the rew
eityof Gary. Gary, a creation of LS. Steelin 1906, was
a new city in all respects. [s government, commercial
businesses, churches all came into being almast
simultanecusly in what had been 2 great wetland
marsh. The new city had offered unisual cpportunities
For ambitious men of entreprensurial sparit. Typical
.o them were William Wirt, wha set up the nationally
known schoaol systern, and Calonel Arthur Meltan,
wha had laid out the city on filled in wetlands. One
feels that the enersy. enthusiasmm, and freedom to plan
creatively of the Gary experience carried aver Lo the
development of Bune Acres. Certainly, Colonel Melton
_was free of conventional patterns of constuction as
he laid cut.une Acres departing from the usual grid.
pattern for one which followed *nataral® contours
The first task of the Corporation was consirucion
. of the roads, utliities and water lines. Wirt found 2
‘talented right-hand man in his wife's nephew, Alden

FEE :
%n.

Started

Studebaker, He arrived in Dune
Acres by motorcycle on Armistice
Day (Movember 11, 1924, to take
et the supervisory ke, His sans
srate that he stayed in the
Clubhouse, whith must have been .
the first building erected In Cune
Acres. He built a hoose for
himsalf, lat 32 Crest Drive) in. 1595,
and married Naomi Chellburg [of
the Chellburg faren family) in 1936,
They had two sons, Henry and
* Arthur, wive were born and raised
In Dune Acres. Studebaker worked
for the Dune Acres Corporation
uritl the Depression in the early
thirties. The Corparation then sold it construction
material and equipment to him, and he worked as a
general contractor until the beginning of World War [1
Almast all the houses constructed in Dune Acres
threugh a1 were built by Alden Studebaker, and he
was also the designer of many of therm.

Building the original roads was in itself a
complicated dhallenge. These roads wers usually buile
an & base of hauled-in clays, which was ther given a
top coating of stones ar crushed rack. The stones
used far the 1op coating were brought by the South
Shore Railroad to a Mineral Springs siding, hand

onel A P Mellan

 shonelled off into trucks and hauled actoss fhe swamp.

The road acrass the swamp kept siiking singe it restad
an peat, and additional material frequently had to ba
placed an top, By the mid-hirties, the road had
hecome so bad that massive action was called for:
frty carloads of stone were broughi in 2nd the road
finally stabilized. Ttwas stll at risk frem rme to tme,
howeser, fromn hazards such as beavers who built dams
nearky, causing the road wo food,

Preparation of raadbeds within the town regquired
heavy machinery, not bulldozers a3 ane might expect,
but rmachines pulled by huge draft horses. Horses
were alsa used o pull big slips full of gravel from the
teach for the manufackuring of cement blocks. The




horses and slips, also ' Fresnos! and wagens, were used
in excavating for houses, as well as for road bullding.
The horses were pastured in & fencecHn area an Fern
Lane, which at that ime was platted through from
Ridge Drive to East Road. [This part of Fern Lans was
vacated in the carly 19%60s.) The horse pasture was in
the low flat arca brehind 16, 18, and 20 Crest Drive.

This area had other uses, toc. A small storags
* shed was located there, and for a while a cement
block operation was carried @n at this site, The
Corporation also had a large construction shed [about
20 by 50') on East Read, near Lupine Lane. This
building had an office in it and for a number of years

in e migkthirties one of Studebaker's employess, Gus |

Anderson [(usually knownas "Old Gus') lived there.
Alden Studebaker had from the beginning made

his cwn cement Blocks. Az first many were made right .

on the beach. Later, grave] from the beach was brought
o the zile an Fern Lare, and an employes was kept

busy full time making blocks. These early Blocks were

hand tamped by Old Gus ard the other workers, whe
were all from the local area—-mestly farmers.

" In 1937, Studebaker moved the cement block
‘operation to a minkindustizl srea adjaining the rear

of lts 68, 49, and 70 on East Road. This land was

leased (rarm a Mr Tackatt (whe built the ficst house in
the West End). A new plant was built e this site, and
a1 machine with 2 mator deiven power tamper and belt
feeder was installed. Henry and Alden Studebaker
have described the aperation of the plant, which "could
be cperated with as many as two people up to five—
depending on how fst vou wanted to make the blacks,

The Lop production rate was bwo per minute or 120
per bour. Cne thousand per day was the record

AL first the plant was used primarily for making
Blocks for Studebaker's contracting business in Dune
feres. Belore long, however, the blacks were in
demand by ourside builders also, and the plant
functianed ona larger scale, A public school in Hebron,
2 number of hauses in Michigan City, and a sarage in
Valparalso were Ballt from 'Studie blocks-a name by
which local workers still refer @ the cement blocks
Tram the Dune Acres plant. The kst year of any
significant production was 1947, The plant was
destraed by the forest flre of Fady,

" Almostall of the log houses In Dune Acres, except
far the Clubhouse, were bullt by Alden Studebaker.
The logs came from Oregon and had to be precisa in
shape and taper to fit together properiy, The logs were
auled from the South Shore [n a specially devised
rig. plled aleng the road at the bullding site, then lifted

int place by & 'gin pole’, a pulley device abaut anty

or thirty feet tall. For houses at high elelations akong
the ridaes, for example, slong East Boad, Circle Drive,
and Beach Drive, railread fracks were bullt on whish
carts carried the logs and other materials to the top,
power provided by a2 ane and ane-half ton truck.
Mo houses were built in Dune Acres during World

_ War 1I. During this time, Studebaker gradually slowed
down to Farming and left the Dune Acres buikding and

PR - 5 N .
Flinass b 18 Cirele Dirive undse construction, 1532

raintenance o others, Bob Greer took cver the snow

plowing and road maintenance contracts during the
Warld War I, and when the town expanded west of
Mineral springs road after the \War, he built the reads,
By then, Dune Acres was a welkestablished cammunity,

Dune Acres presented special challenges toa
busilder, and Alden Studebaker showed grearingenuity
in reeting them. He Butin the infrasmrucmare and buit
the ariginal houses. He was a suitzble match for his
equally remarkable uncle, William Wirt, and for other
Cnine Acres piocneers.

By

I
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Chapter 1

Bef

ore

the War

. Until*after World
War 11, residential uns
Acres was confined to
the First Subdivision-the
West End of that perlad
being Shore Drive, Ok
and Linden lanes. But a
move further west was
developing on the eve of 258 :
war, as bulkling permits were isswed to William Tackett
and F. E, Kiloourn for houses an what woukd become
West Road inow numbers 54 and 48], Thelr access at
that point was by a makeshilt roadway, Wesr Road
itsel was not o:“'.sTrur_t';:d unul the end of the war in
3.

The new town gotb off to 2 pmmisizi.g SL,arl. The
Guesthaurse and Clubhouse wene opened far business

in 8% and the golf course laid out at the same time.

The chelcer lots were sald and building permits issusd
for therm in the prosperity of the 19X0s. “Williarm Wirt
himself chose a5 a site the noble blull at the corner
af East Koad .znd Beach Drive {74 East REoad).
Lakeshore lofs on East Road and an Oak. Shore, Crest
and Beach drives were pusehased first, for the mest
part by business and professional pecnle from Gary
or executives associated with Inland or LS. Steel. &

nsrnber of Chicago families were ameng the early

purchazers, but significantly only one was fram
Chesterton. Celonel E. L.Morgan, of the picneer

farnity that founded Chesterton, built 3 log house on”

‘tha heach at 5 Beach Drive for his daughter Eleanor
- and her husband fohn Read.

Almost all of the first holses were built of nzﬁ .

but a handful were in the nec-Spanish style popular
in Palm Beach and other Florica resorts, First o hreak
awsy from the prepondesant log houss type were H.
B, Smyder [1926] aL 22 Oak Drive and his brother-inas
Oliver Starr, prosecuring attorney far Lake County, at
15 Oak Drwr_ |L92F'| Starr was later a |ud"e of the
Initiana Suprcm SOUrt,. -

Amang the houses Bl before the War, perhaps
the rrcst distinetive was that at 24 Circle Drive. It was

and is a replica of a -
armhouse which was
part of the Belgian
Village, the entry of the
Government of Belgim
at the Chicagn Warld's
Falr of 19323, The Belgian.
Village was ane of the
mosl popular features
Mr and Mrs: Boland Schmide, who were

of the Fair.
aboul to build in Dune Acres ware so taken with this
hauge that they had its plan carefully rpprndu::ad on
LE.{ r lat,

Lopy of Warkd's Frir Belaide fared Rause 24 Circle Dirive

Another bit of Chicags Ristory which showed ug
in Dune Acres in the pre-war years were cobblestones
which had paved Chicags streets. They were being 2
dug up to make way for concrete and came an the.




mark-%-t. A number of akder
houses in the east end of |
Lo’ have retaining walls i
and garden borders [
composed of Chicago
cohblestones.

.The coming of the
Depression slowed but did
nat stop construction in the
rowmn. Howsever, a natable
shift did cccur caused by
hard tfimes. Greater interest
was shown in lots inland
from the lake, simply

because they were less
expensive, In this way the
rown fillad in hack from the
beach fromt into the wooded
dunes. Martgage financing B
was hard to obtain and so |8
many of the '30's houses
[especially befare abaut
1935 were finanged entiraly
by their cwners. The result
_ was, as deseribed by
Elizabeth Rogers, sn early
resident. "People who
wantad to get gut [tothe
dunes] right away sacrficed
their location in arder ta
have money to build a
heiuse” All inall, a dozen or so houses were constructed
berween 1930 and 1341, These wers permanent
structures, but few were occupied year-round. In the
census retymn for 1940, Dune Acres was listed as having

a population of 46, although there were some 40

houses by that time. Williarm Wirt's ambition to develop
an upper class suburb like Winnetka or Lake Forest
had not been realized,  Pre-war Dune Acres was
prrmarily & summer resork. ’

The heart and soul of the little community was
always the Guesthouse and Clubhouse. The
Guesthouse registar shows that the licke hotel was
open year-round for 2 few vears, Tt by 1990 operated
anly from April through Gctoer, There were welve
guest rooms, each with private bath, oreupied fairly
fully oo summer weekends, with sccasicnal guests
thircash the other seasons. Many were regulars, most

fram ‘Chicago, but thare
| were athers fram maore
-exotic places, for example
from Flint , Michigan,
‘Philadelphia and Aberdeen,
Scuth Dakata. There is less
information about the
dining room, which was
lacated on the ficst floor of
the Clubhause, but there ane

24 for dinner frem the
University Club of Michisan
city. The fazlites remained
popular  during  the
Depression and World War
11 Thanks to Dan Jenking,
we have a menu rom the
then-styled 'Harbor Wiew
Inn' from 1944 ar 1945 which

for 51.10, broiled lake trout
| for 5.83 and & casserale of
baked beans for 565
Lamon cream pie or arangs
lawer cake were 15 cents ard
coffee or tea were a dime.

The Guesthouse was
operated on e American
plan. ~ Rates in 1936,

including meals, were 55.00 per person on weekends, -
3,50 on weekdays. For an additional $2.00 2 'guest

could have auest privileges on the golf colrse. A menu
from Octaber, 26, admenished guests mo “keep off
the golf course greens, unless vou have soll shoes on.”

The Guesthouse and Clibhouse had become Toam ®

praperty, and their maintenance and operation were
the chiel, and sometihes only, concern of the Towrn
Board, as reflected in the minutes of the meetings of
the Board. The roads were [requently on the agenda
as well. Since they washed our all too-essily, the roads
were andther big concern of Town government. Bob

Greer, who later bullt the roads in the West End, did -

the snow plowing after the war, put in steel pilings in
the 1970's when the lake was high and In gensral
malntzined the town far severzl decades, summed the
pre-war road situation succincthy in later life, "Dune

csame records of large.
“parties. for instance on -
Cctiober 12, 1997, a group of -

offered & roast turkey dinner -

|
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Acres roads were terrible” Hehad
some out to Dune Acres quite-a bit
as early as 1930 making deliveries
for the Hokanson's rocery store
He recalked, "in the thirties, you really
had ta hang an o your hat when
you came aut here because there
ware bumps~hers weare holes—and
the roads would wash out.” The
Tovwm Board was canstanty invelved
in repairing the road system--
especially Mineral Springs as it
‘crossed the swamp.

© The Depression hit the original
investars In Dune Acres,
Ineorporated hard - They kad put
their capital inte building the roads,
the polf course, the Clubhouse snd
Guesthouse without as yet receiving compensating
requrns, A this difficult peint, H. B, Sropder, S, usuglly
known a5 Burgess| became the central figure both in
the Corporation and town government. He used his
influerce 1o have the water system upgraded by the
WP A But he could do nothine o sove the street lights
.o the golf caurse. The gall courss slowiy reverted @
Rature, Maor was town income great enough to pay
the MIPSCE kills, and in 1933 the street lights were
turned off "l times get better.” For (he rest of the

Harry abd Anre Hall

decade, the Board struggled o pay offthe debrit had |
accumulated to the uility company. So the absence
of street liphts *a notable feature of THine Acres, was
the product of clrcumstances not of planning
7 When Waorld War 11 started, Gune Acres was well
established, not as an ordinary town or subusk, but
a5 2 SUMMEr resork. As in maost such resorts, there
were & handiul of familles whe [ved here year round,
bouncing over te terrible roads 1o commures to Gary
or Chicage, But when summer arrived, a more
abundant lite rurned, The Guesthouse and Clubhouse
reapened and sexsonal residents opened their houses.
The vigorous community life of a summear colem
returnsd.

. The fact
that Dune
Acres began
in this way
imprinted
characteristicd
an the town
which have
persisted
through its =
histary. It has Blrazss and flary Smuder
alwavs been not just an accumulation of residences
but a 'colony’ in the special senge of 'summer colony.
A persan o family maving o Dune Acres acguined not
just a house but a way of life, based on love of natiral

beauty and on shared recreational social life.




Guesthouse and the Dining

1

The experience of Dune
Acres in Warld War |l is largely
unrecorded. Almast ne reccrds
hawve kean tound Lo indicate
whowent off 1o war or how the
conflict alfected those at home.
The Guesthause register does
shewr, however, that both the ®

~ Chapter IV

Growing

Motable changes coourred
as Dune Acres expanded beyand
the ariginal development. [n the
early 1950's, the Town acguired
the land south of East Road to
the guardfiouse, now playground
and woods [of which there is
mare in chapter VI, A second
impartant expansion was to the

Fam temained popular. With
gas ratoning limiting ravel. the S
Dune Acres facilities were
accessible by & short drive o
by South Shore trains and
evidently were much used
during the war. But heavy
usage and curtailed
malntenance ok their il
When the war ended the buildings and eguipment

' were soworn that Bringing them back 1o standard was

impractical. Both Guesthouse and restaurant were

" closed and the Guesthause was farm dewn, thus ending

an era of Dune Acres historg

* Onge the war was over, Dune Acres experienced
2 lang period of growth of many kinds. Before the
war. thera was only a handhal of houges open through
he winter. From he 46 residants countad in the 1840
cansus, the number increased in 1950 [ &5, and by

- a0 the number had growm oo 250, BY 15450, there

were 50 houses, by 1960 close to 100, The effect though
wras etill of small clusters of houses scattared through

- an extensive woodland.

In cne way, appearances did change. The
preponderant architectural style before the war had

Laen the log house. Popular now was the 'madern.

style! with Jow horizontal lines and (loor to ceiling
windeows or sliders. A good number were designed
by distinguished architects: the Keck Brathers, Fersins
and Will. Cranbie Taylar, Richard Besnett from Chicags;
Richard Meulra fram Califormia, Summer shacks were

‘either remodsled for yearround use or were torn

down. In some cases they were replaced by new
heuses (for example, the Richardson hause, now the
Wildlife Sancouary, on West Road) or the land on which
they stood was often purchased by the adjacent
DFOpErty CWner

west 25 West Road was built and
the West End opeted up, area
by area. Plats were recorded for
Hill Crrive i August, 1951, Surnmit
Dirivez in 1958 aned for Willow Lane
im 1963 :

With all this expansion, the
tnumnicipal government and its
facilities alse grew. The Fire
statien {now the Town Halll was Built in 1945 and fire
hydrants wers installed. Shortly thersafrer (in 1951
the Plan Commissian and the Beard of Zoning Appeals
were established and the first Zoning Grdingnce was
drasn up.

A very early matter of concern to the Plan
Comrission was what would hapgen to fose lands
adjacent to the town Buk cutside the towh limits. To
the south andl west of those limits wers vast stretches
of land that seemed a target for developers, On either
side of Mineral Springs Road lay wetlands and woods
that could be exploited far cammercial or industrial
nurposes, in prospect a highly undesirable intresion
hetween Dune Acres and Highway |2, The Plan -
Commission turned for advice (2 one of the top men*
in the field of planning, whase oiflce was in Chicags:

Rennis OHarow, Director of the American Society
of Plznning Cfficlals, Altholsh Dune Acres was hardly
even a village in terms of population, Mr C*Harrow
recognized its great beauty and unkque gualities and
agreed to advise the town, The Plan Commission had
hoped to galn contral (not ewmershin) of lands and
thus contral of development between the town and
Highway 12, perhaps even aleng Highway 12
C¥Harrow's advice was to annex these lands, except
for those on Highway 12, and pass zoning restrictions
for them. The Commission's gaal was to zone the
whole area residentzl, making the use compatible fo

v




that in Dune Acres. But O'Harrow had extensive
experience of what would or would not be approved
by the courts and advised the Commission that single-
use zoning of that kind would never e approved, The
courts would require a commercial area and, oven
worse an area zoned for industry. His judgment was
that if the mown did nothing, these developments would
take place haphazardly, Tt waonld bebetter to annex
the lands, zone them in a way to get kegal approval and
zel standards For commercial and industrial
clevelopment that Dune Acres could abide. This in fact
was what was cone. The lands tothe Sauth Shore right
of way and west to include parts of what is now the site
of MIPSCO and Berthlehem Steel were annexed. A
Wiaster Plan was adopted for Cune Acresdn 1955 which
included areas in the annexations 2ened for commerce
and industry. If follawed threugh, this could have
brought substantlal changes o Dune Agres. Bub the
Lawn was seved by the march of avents, When the

Mational Lakeshore was established, most of thoss

areas were (ncluded in the new national park. The

Master Plan izself remaired impertant, inghuding &

pravision of considerables impact: the required width

for a building site was Increased from the B0 feet of the

ariginal platting te 100 feet, i
With & groming population, more municipal conmal

of traffic had alse become necassary. [n the early filtes, -

an ordinance was passed which allewed the hiring a
deputy marshals for the ficst ime. Depurties were added
_as the town could afferd them, but 24-hour coverage,
7 days awesk lay Tany years, in::lqed decades, ahead

In the summer of 1958, raffic rules were established,
and two years later, the now familiar Dune Acres
windshiek stickers were addad. It was all immensely
mare officient than the carly days-bur not complately
fociproof. For a time araund 1960, for example, there

was 4 sign at the gate house which read, "Pleass came

to a complete halt, The marshal has cataracts and
cannat zee well” Mot long after that & newly hired
deputy wha ingisted on wearing a losded revolver shot
himself Iri the foot. He saught emplayment elsewhare
in a less dangerous position, But despite such tales,
the marshals and deputies were responsible fzures on
whom the residents relied for much mere than guard
service Art [ohnsen, and his successor g5 marshal,
Russ Brocksmith, are fondly remembered from thase
vears as | Bob Greer who was an indispensalils figure
In towen fike dmtil he retired in 1977,

As contemparary Dune Acres was Laking shape, &
further and indispensable step was taken. For the first
timme, in 1960, the streets and roads were named. The
initiative for thiscame nat from townspecple but ffam
the Post Office department. Do Acres hacl various

systems of mail delivery theaugh the yesrs. Before the
war, mail had been delivessd only during the sumrmer
months and everything was put inta one bax. After the
war; there was vear round delivery and all the mail was
put irite one of thres bores-one being ficst class, the
athers for second and thisd, Residents had to ga threugh
and plck aut their awn mail from e pile [no doubt also
noticing what was in there for the ather residents], [n
the fifties, individual mailboxes were st up in <lasters
an the main roeds. All theaugh this tme, the address
was ‘Mounted Route 2, Thess clusters proved confusing
10 the Posl Office [although they are used today for Hill -
and Summit Drives]. So. in 160 the postal department
announced that twould no kenger deliver mail unless
there were individual addresses  The Town Board
appointed Hunton Rogers and lim Halley as a commitbes
o propose names for the sreets. According to Falth
Halley, "They decided the main streets should have
directions as names and called roads, East Road, West
Foad, the drives woulkd be gecaraphic [eatuses like Share
and Beach, and the minor roads weald be narned after
flora of various sorts.” The word 'street was not uged-
-toc urhan, Gertrude Canklin rerembered & subsequent
tévwn meeting whers residents of each road satin a
aroup dnd corsidersd the propased name. Ons owner
an Crest Drive prefecred Hillorest but it was pointed oul
that 'Hillcrest Grive; Dune Acres' was 1oodong to goon
a Marshall Field's charge plate 'Crest’ was adopted,
leaving 'Hill' available for its present locaticn.
The town acauired a zoning ordinance, sxpandecd
guard service, windshield stickers, mall delivery and
strest names, but nobedy seemed 1o Be able o do much
about the telephones. Mew families sometimes had

lonz waits for @ phone, and everyans was on & parsy
L ‘

line, Some idea of the standard &t that ime can be seen
‘fram a complaint fram the Town Board 1o the Public
Service Commission of Indiana that the telephone
comparny was providing (ive-party linss and charging a
four-party rate. In the 19505, General Telephone gresitly
expanded itz equipment and servics, buton a scale of
| t= 10 had nat reached 10, One customer called the
company and said, | wish to make a complaint.® The
cperatar replied, *Oh dear, we get a lot of those® On
the ather hand, the operators were local and not
respanding from Enid, Oklzhoma, or Rock Hill, South
Caralina. :

By the end of the 19305, Dune Acres had moved
beyond being essentially & summer resart o being a
fully craganized municipality. It was & distinctive
municipality with its winding roads and extensive
parkland. Above all, It was still a real community.
preserving the cohesive spirit of the summer colony of
prewar days. OF that, mare In the next chapter..




. PIEWar Summes resort

Chapter N

..But Still the Same._

The years betwsen
1945 and 1960 were 3
pericd of transition far
Dune Acres as the

gremws Sinkas sk he
contemporary mostly
yearroand municipalicy.
Looking back to this
period, one s struck not
cnly by the changes but
egualhy so by the extent
o which the community
carried on the spirit of

* prewar Dune Acres. In
. the fifties, the permanent papulation tripled, and the
flo of newcomers might well e miade Dune Acres -

Just anathsr postwar development. Bt new families
aporeciated the way of life. They entered into it and

hecame enthusiastc members and frequently lesders
_ ofthe COMITIANITY,

The mast important bonding for alder residents
and far neweomers was provided by the town Social
Commities, arganized in the early 19305, The
Clubhouse with its restaurant had served as a focus

for the eammmunity, but the Towm Board decided in

Joda it would no langer keep up that aperation and it
was closed down. But it s0on Decame once more the
center of wwn life. Babbie Smith recalls inan interview
that the Clubhouse "sat there for a while with. greasy
skillets in the kitchen, and the stove caked with snufl.

Pnr!y('_‘,ummelua iie lite |crm;-5m Ardses e Mmp.:'l o Flguenr.

commitlee mambers.
Mo mentionis made of
cockballs. An lnvitation
From 1953 15, In fact,
rather disciplinary;
"minner will be served
from £:00 to 645 Be
prompt. Diners were
told o bring their own
knives, forks and
spoons, but paper -
plates. cups and
napkins would be
[ufnished. It appears
that in its firsz years the
Social Commmee had in m_iﬂd__p]’{:-‘lﬁding ther social
meals far the community that had previously been
avallable at the-Clubhouse restaurant. By 1933, the

' program had become mare varled. The Commitise's

report for that vear indicated that by mid-fugust [the
date of the report], there had been & events during the
summer one every ather week: 'Dune Acres at Home',

" Al Fresco Diner, 'ath of july Dance, 'Smur.gasburd

and Exhibits, 'Beach Carnival. and 'Luncheon and
Sryle Show!. There was a high level of participatien.
Auerage attendance for sach event was about 150, and
b August 11, onby 6 families of the 75 in Lown had nat

' artended at least one event. The season epened, then

Connie Bennett spearheaded the effort o cleanitup -

and uss It for town parties. Soowe saubbed and
cleansd that kitchen..we really worked hard getting it
all Exed up, We had a group of people who took their
sewing machines, and we made curlains=l mean it
was a real community effort.” The Clibhouse was
span in use bor Social Committee parties.

A typical carly evant was a pot luck dinner an
semonial Day, 1551, served at 200 puan. From other

. flyers that have been preserved, it appears the general
© fermat was a dinner with food prepared by the

a5 now, with 2 Memorial Day event of some sort, The

- zecember holiday party was alse an annual event.

Again according te Bablle Smith, the Christimas parties
of the: early fiftes were held in residents! houses and
were progressive, maving from home 1o heme far
various eourses. By the mid-fifties, the filiday party
was szandardly dinner with cocktails st the Spa, black-
tie optional but usually worn. Mary residents had
small parties in their homes before going on; an avid
attendes with 2 strong constiution might dropin at

three or four affairs before proceeding through the

wintes night to the Spa.
The sense of community was also fo@l'ered by thee

“town's need to have every ciizen help with certain-




functicns. This was most natably true with the
Important task of fice fighting There were many more
_t}-ru sh fires then than al the prasent time, partly no
doubt because there were fewer Nouses and more

woodland, Fires that started glang the South Shore

tracks had a clear run well north of East Road until
about 1960, Marecver, before the NIPSCO and
Bethleherm Steel plants were constructed in Baillytowr,
uncantrolled fires were frequent in the woods and

grasses there and could spread ihto town, carried by

2 southwest wind.,

" Inthis ara, Up to the early 19608, when brush fires
were guite comman, each resident was considared oo
“be a member of the valunteer fire department and

- every household was expected ta have an Indian Fire
Fighter cn hand (2 tank of water with connected hose

carried like a backpack]. The Indian Fire Fighter was

very heavy and residents who couldn't handle one.

were 1 Use heaters—long poles with rubber flappers

at the' end, used o beat out the flames. . Training
sessions were held perodically to instruct residents-
-bath men and women—in the mast efficient use of
these Em-ﬁghl.irvgal.cis. An alert for a fire was saurded
by am exzradoud siren lecated at the Clubhouse, and
ward was spread by a telephone committee. The
women an that cemmittee also took turns in
maintaining a flre warch from the Clubhouse bill during
dry periods when the wind wag-from the south,

The mest destructive fire in Dune Acres history
cecureed on g warm March day in 1949 [t is theaighs
to have started when a man burning Lrash along
Hizhway 12 lest control of his bonfice in a high wind

ome resident later recalled seeing the fire burning
alang the South Shore right of way at about ten in the
marning when she dréve into Parter for groceries. By
the time she returned shartly thereafter, Cowles Bog
eastaf Mineral 'sf)[lnﬁ.s was ablaze as far as the guard
house, The famss then swept inta the woods bebasan
the bag and East Road and started arcing. - From there
the fine moved up the Clubkouse Fill, up Crest, Ridge
znd Circle Drives and through the low-lying backland

to the edae of Porter Beach. The woods in the center

of Circks Drive were caught up in the James (no houses
had been bulls in the center at that time) and the
Clubheouse caught fire, but the blaze was extinguished

hefore much damage was done. The conflagration

was confined to the east side of Mineral Springs Road.
since the wind was from due south, -

AL an =arly paint, fire wucks arrlved from Poreer,
Milles and Gary [the Chesterton truck was unable to
respond, but the department there sent sandwiches
2 and coffee fer the fire fighters).
Ren fromm Dune Acres had been
. called home from work, and the |

Superintendent of Schools in
Chestertan sent boys from the
senior class at the high school o
help. Altogether about one
hundred volunteers from outside
Drune Acres assisted in fighting the
" fire. It raged from mid-morning
until Jate in the sfterncon, and for
several days sfterwards trees in
the deeper woods were still
burning. Aside from the
waodlands, the major castaltics
were the Studebaker plant for
making cement blocks and & house on Crest Drive
oamed by Albert Fertach, Dean of the Indiana University
Extension in Gary [now Indiana University Morthwest].
The Fertsch house burned o the ground, and the site
has never been buill on since. A set of cement stairs
still runs up the kil from Crest Drive bo where the
heuse had stood. : e

Cne might wonder why m{:rrf__* residences wers
not destroyed, singe the fire burned all around many
af them. Thiy were saved by the éfforts of thelr awners,
wha kept them wet during the day, hosing thenm down
when they were threatened by'the blaze, “and by
voluntesrs who beat the flames back in the resldential
ATEAS. e




In response to this great fire, the Town Board.

pushed anead quickly to provide better protection.
Two probisms were-apparent. First, the water supply
al the fire station was inadequate For fighting a major
fire and second, better access was needed L3 the
deepar wonds before fires there threatensd residential

_areas. Hydrants were installed Lo provide water aver |
- wider areas, and a truck withra large water Lank and a

" jeep with small tanks were ohtained. The fire station
already built in B8, was enlarged to house the new
enuipment. Mast of this effart was paid for by public
subseripton. [twas at this peing. as described above,
that the women's telephone and fire watch committes
was organized and the siren installed at te Clubhauss,

Wiolunteers did not confine their efforts to Dune Acres
bur also respanded to calls from ather communities.-

They were often called o fight fire in the swampy
areas near where MIPSCO and Bethlehem Stecl are
mow located, i

; From the beginning of the town of Dune Acres,
fire fighting had been considered a normal duty of all
residents. The measures taken after the great fire of
Match, 1949, were desizned Lo organize and equip this
every-cidzen effort. This approach continued into the
19605, By then the danger of brush fires {while stil
very real) had diminished as the Bailly area was cleared

_of woodland, ds had been a number of lots in

1

Dune Acres where hotses riow stoad. Indeed, the
nurmnber of howses in toewn had increased so significantly
that pratection baged on residentvaluntesrs was o
longer feasible. And it must be added that the ald
water tank truck had proven to e a lumbering menstar,
veery hard o handle, The Indian Fire Fighters also were
difficult Lo carry and difficult o use. More eliance
and then complets reliance was placed on contracts
far protection from neighboring fire departments.
Several major house fire have oocurred in the past
thirty years, bur Cune Acres had not been threatensd
during that fime with brush fires on the seale of those
af earlier years. G

A valuntesr fire department was maintained in
Dune Acres untl the mideizhtics. Our cusesnt Fire
Commissiensr (1998] lohn Wilhelm, carries an a
vigorous campaign to make sure all houses are
adeguataly equipped with fire extinguishers and smoke
detectors. Fire is always a threat, of course, but not
as much asitwas in Dune Acres three of four decades
ago. . :

The activites organized by the Sodial Committee

and the 'every resident a fir fighter' expectation helpsd

o carry an into the pestwar period the communicy
impetvernent which had given Duna Acres its special
character fram the beginning. Another community
effort of this period; usually referred o as "the Park
Purchase Plan® will be set focth in the next chapter,

|
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Chapter VI

The Park Purchase Plan

Thez Tenwn of Dune Acres,
that is, the lran government,
was limited in the prejects It
might undertaks because of
the serall tax base in the town -

~and also because of state ||
limitations on the size of
assessments. Pond issues
were out of the question. Thus
_ when conlranted with major
praoblems 1equiring

“ggreed o bring the total up

b 545, 00000 3 needed. Dune
Acres, Incarparated, had
contributed an amount that
was judged by all e be o fair
chare, Lea [atnston, then the
Dune Acres real estate broker,
and two eminent cltizens.,
‘both members of the fund-
raising comumittes, Dick Smmith
and Leonard Conklin, went o

considerable financing the townspeople turned to

valuntary fund drives and contribations. The building
anel later enlzraing of the fire station was paid [or in
- thiz way.In 1953, a situation developed which tested
the will and resaurces of residences in a much greater
degrcc The ;}cr_iu}ns thmwfe taken strengthenad t!'-e

its present Appearance.
The crists concerned the land scuth and west of
East Boad, This land had net been included inthe 1923

purchase oy William Wirs and in fact belonged to two -

. outside developers [one from Chicaga, the other from

Valparaisal In 1953, Mr. Elmare, the Chicagoan,

announced that he was going to subdivide his Land,
which now holds the playaround and tennis courts,
. Resldents were alarmed and believed that the Jand
should be purchased. But how and by -.uhcm?’l‘ti-g'lbwn
of Dune Acres did not have the taring or the bonding
power to raise funds. The townspeople then resalved
e buy the land through public subscripticn with the
provision thet it would remain forever park land. The
fricewas S50,000.00, & very considerable sum of maney
at that ime, perhaps the equivalent of a millicn dollars
1998, Property cwners were asked lo contrilaute their
prorata share hased on the assessed valuation of thelr
praperty ta the total assessed vallation <f the Town,
The sums were large, since thers were only 60 houses
in the town st that e and undeveloped ks had very
livor valuation, but over B0 per cent of the homeowners
paid their share. Many had o barrow meney ar put
martgages on their houses o do so. Through this
effart S42,000.00 was raiged, short of the S50,000.00
M. Elmore was asking. Burgess Snvder and lim Martin

see bF, Elmere in his Chicago office. Elmore reiuctanily :
accepted the cash offer of 542.000.00. The Purchase
Agreement was execured an hay I3, 15, by the Town
Board acting far the residents and property awners.
The Jand was deeded to the Town of Dune Acres for
Hse &5 parkiand.

Almest at orice Mr. Edgren, the Valparaiso
developer, put his property Gn the market foe 59, 500,00
The ahility of the Lownspecple to Taise money was
erhausted, But a solution was found, Eighteen acres of
the Elmaore land actually lay west of Mineral Springs
and north of West Road. It was decided to sell this land
in four parcels, wach to be the site for one house, a
restricticn o the effect to be included in the title, Thess
lots were sald and the Edgren property was purchased,
extending the southern baundary of Dune Acres Lo
Cawles Bog and also making possible the lightly
papulated section on West Road from Mineral Springs
zlmost to Hill Drive (nmbers 6, 30, 28 West Road). e
the following year, & new drive for contrbutions brought
in funds to create the piaygrwnd area and purchase
equipment.

The character af Dune Acres is revealed by the
unspailed, wooded entrance o the town on Mineral
Springs, where the [isst view of human habitation is of
the tennis courts and plavgreund. All of this we awea o
resldents in 1953 whose community spltltand financial
sacrifice made it passible, : 3

Like: the social program and the "every residenta - -
fire fighrer* cistom, the park purchase plan broughe all
residents into active participation in 2nd respensibility
for the community. [n this crucial postwar period of
grewth, these activides maintained and strengthénsd
the distinctive community life of Dune Acres.









































































